IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI 2007-KA-00814-COA

ROTUNDO JENKINS

APPELLANT

VS.

STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

APPELLEE

BRIEF FOR THE APPELLANT

APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF LAUDERDALE COUNTY, MISSISSIPPI

(Oral Argument Requested)

PREPARED BY:

ERIC J. HESSLER, MSB NO. ATTORNEY AT LAW
2104 8TH STREET
MERIDIAN, MS 39301
TELEPHONE (601) 553-9900
FACSIMILE (601) 553-9969

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI 2007-KA-00814-COA

D	\mathbf{C}	TIL	ATT	\sim	HI.	TI Z	DATE
Т	v	IU.	NE	"	and the second	V IN I	113.3

APPELLANT

VS.

STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

APPELLEE

CERTIFICATE OF INTERESTED PERSONS

STATEMENT OF ISSUES

The Circuit Court erred in failing to grant Appellants Oral Motion in Limine, requesting that the prosecutor refrain from referring to or eliciting specific information allegedly obtained from an unknown, unidentified source. The statement referred to was made to a Meridian Police Officer by an unknown person who flagged the officer down.

The unknown person told the officer that he had witnessed a drug deal. The unknown subject further stated that he saw the black male hand a white female crack cocaine. Additionally the subject stated that the black male drug dealer was on a mini-bike.

Appellant's attorney believed this information to be hearsay, and, out of an abundance of caution, requested, via a Pretrial Motion, that this information be excluded. The basis or the Motion was that it was inadmissible hearsay and that the statement was more prejudice than probative, in that such information would strongly imply that the Appellant was distributing crack cocaine.

The prosecutor, in response to the Oral Motion in Limine, responded that she did not believe the state's witness would say that, and that she would instruct them not to make any type of inference in that way.

The Judge denied this Oral Motion in Limine, stating that it was in writing, that it was not timely raised and that it could be ruled on at trial, should such an objection be warranted.

The Circuit Court again erred when it denied the Appellant contemporaneous objection, based on hearsay, to the statement. In improperly over ruling the hearsay objection, the witness went on to testify regarding the hearsay statement. The testimony from the State's witness included the hearsay statement indicating that the black male on a mini-bike was observed distributing crack cocaine to the white female. The person who allegedly made this statement to the officer was unknown and unavailable to be cross examined was vague and unreliable and was not relevent. The denial of the above Motion and subsequent objection resulted in unjust prejudice to the Appellant and denied him his right to a fair and impartial trial.

Additionally, the Appellant objected to the states jury instructions, labeled as S-2 and S-3, respectfully. The basis for the objection was that the instructions included the weight of the cocaine. The Appellant was charged with Possession of Cocaine only. The weight, therefore, was irrelevant to the jury, as the weight only applied to sentencing, which is only under the authority of the Judge. The inclusion of the irrelevant weight of cocaine in this matter combined with the inadmissible hearsay testimony essential identifying the appellant as a dealer of crack cocaine, improperly and unfairly prejudiced the Appellant. In doing so, the appellant was denied due process and denied the right to a fair and impartial trial.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Rotundo Jenkins, Appellant, was arrested on August 18, 2006 and charged with Possession of Cocaine. Mr. Jenkins entered a plea of not guilty to the charge and elected to be tried by jury. On March 19, 2007, a jury of twelve men and women were duly sworn to try this matter.

Prior to the trial, during the discovery phase, the Appellant received the Meridian Police Report, authored by Police Officer Kevin Boyd, which documented the allegations surrounding the arrest.

The report, in pertinent part, stated that he, Officer Boyd, was "dispatched" to the area of 5th Street in reference to a white female soliciting people and possibly on drugs. Officers checked the area and was unable to find the female. Officer Sanders and Boyd ended up on 1st Street. Officer Boyd was flagged down by a black SUV. A white male inside of the vehicle, in the back seat, advised Officer Boyd that there was a black male on a mini bike selling crack further down on the 1st Street closed to Airport Boulevard. The male subject advised Officer Boyd that he had seen the black male hand crack cocaine to a white female.

At no time did Officer Boyd receive any other information. There was no clothing description, physical description, age or name given of the subject who was allegedly selling the crack. At no time was it ever confirmed that the black male allegedly riding a mini bike and selling crack cocaine was in fact selling anything. More specifically, at no time was it ever confirmed that the Appellant, Rotundo Jenkins, in fact was that same black male on a mini bike as the one alleged to be selling crack. At no time was the unknown white male declarent ever identified or alleged to be identifiable.

Furthermore, the officer indicated that the reason for the stop of Mr. Jenkins was a traffic violation, and not the information given to him by the white male.

During jury selection, out of an abundance of caution, attorney for the Appellant, requested the Court grant an oral Motion in Limine to prevent such unreliable, irrelevant, uncorroborated and prejudicial hearsay testimony from being elicited or offered at trial. In support of this Motion, the Appellant argued the above, and pointed out that such prejudicial testimony would strongly and incorrectly suggest to the jury that the Appellant was not only a drug dealer, but also the person who had just been involved in a drug transaction.

The Prosecutor responded that the statement was not offered for the truth of the matter asserted, just for the reason they (the police) were in the area. The Prosecutor also admitted that the stop of the Appellant was made for traffic reasons. Furthermore, the prosecutor informed the Judge that she would instruct them (the police witnesses) not to say that the Appellant was selling drugs.

The trial commenced, and the state called their first witness, Officer Kevin Boyd. During his testimony. Boyd's testimony regarding the statement of the unknown white male declarent was timely objected to as inadmissible hearsay. This objection was overruled and the statement was admitted and repeated to the jury.

Furthermore, during the states direct examination of Officer Boyd, despite the states assertion that they would instruct their witnesses to not infer that the appellant was selling drugs; This is exactly what they did. Officer Boyd testified, over objection, that the white male subject told him the "black male on the mini-bike on 1st street (was) handing a white female crack cocaine".

Lastly, the Appellant objected to the states jury instructions, labeled as S-2 and S-3, respectfully. The basis for the objection was that the instructions included the weight of the cocaine. The Appellant was charged with Possession of Cocaine only. The weight, therefore, was irrelevant to the jury, as the weight only applied to sentencing, which is only under the authority of the Judge. The inclusion of the irrelevant weight of cocaine in this matter combined with the inadmissible hearsay testimony essential identifying the appellant as a dealer of crack cocaine, improperly and unfairly prejudiced the Appellant. In doing so, the appellant was denied due process and denied the right to a fair and impartial trial.

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The Defendant, Rotundo Jenkins was arrested on August 18, 2006 and charged with Possession of Cocaine. The police report compiled of the event reflects that Police Officer Keven Boyd was flagged down by an unknown white male who told him (the officer) that a black male on a mini bike had just distributed crack cocaine to a white female. The statement is clearly hearsay. The unidentified white male otherwise gave no clothing description, physical description, age, height, weight or any other distinguishing characteristics of the black male subject. While searching the area, Officer Boyd observed Appellant Jenkins (who is a black male) on a mini bike in an area further away. Officer Boyd indicated that he decided to conduct a traffic stop on the Appellant for observed traffic violations. He did so and the Appellant was subsequently arrested, charged and tried and convicted.

Prior to, and during the trial, attorney for the Appellant lodged an oral Motion in Limine regarding the above hearsay statement. It was argued that in addition to being inadmissible hearsay, it was irrelevant, unreliable and more prejudicial than probative. Both the Motion In Limine and the contemporaneous objections were overruled.

By allowing the hearsay statement of the unknown white male (which contained no other description other than a black make on a mini-bike selling crack cocaine). The jury was certainly led to believe that the Appellant was in fact the same black male who was selling crack cocaine. Although certainly prejudicial, the probative value of this statement was minimal, at best.

The Appellant was not charged with Sale of Crack Cocaine, nor was there any corrobotive evidence that he had in fact sold crack cocaine additionally, according to the

ARGUMENT OF APPELLANT WITH SUPPORTING AUTHORITIES

The well founded standard of review for the admission or exclusion of evidence in Mississippi is abuse of discretion Troupe v. McAuley, 955 So.2d 848, 855 (MISS. 2007) citing Poole v. Avara, 908 So.2d 716 (Miss. 2005). A trial Judge, therefore, "enjoys a great deal of discretion as to the relevancy and admissibility of evidence unless the Judge abuses this discretion so as to be prejudicial to the accused, the Court will not reverse this ruling." Shaw v. State, 915 So.2d 442, 445 (Miss 2005) (citing Jefferson v. State, 818 So.2d 1099, 1104 (Miss. 2002).

Mississippi Rules of evidence 801(C) defines hearsay as "a statement, other than one made by the declarent while testifying at the trial or hearing, offered in evidence to prove the truth of the matter asserted."

Although the state indicated that the hearsay statement identifying the black male on the mini-bike selling drugs was not offered to "prove the truth of the matter asserted", there was no other relevancy regarding this statement. The state argued that it was only offered to show why the Officer stopped the accused. (RE p. 36-37, ll. 27-4)

The Appellant submits that the hearsay statement was inadmissible for several reasons; it was vague and unreliable; it was more prejudicial than probative; it prohibited the accused from confronting the witness against him; and it was not relevant.

The statement was vague and unreliable in that it did not provide any other description of a black male on a mini-bike selling narcotics. It did not provide a name, physical description, clothing description, height, weight or age, nor did it provide the witness basis for the knowledge.

The statement was more prejudicial than probative in that the statement, as provided in court, clearly implied that the accused was selling cocaine (which was never alleged or charged) but which inference the jury could not avoid. This statement was given despite the states assertion that it's witnesses would be instructed not to make such statements or inferences. (RE p.38, II. 9-12.)

Lastly and equally important, the statement has no relevance, whatsoever, in this matter. The Police Officer clearly stated that the basis leading to the arrest of the Appellant was based on a traffic stop (RE p. 52, Il. 15-18) Considering the above, the Appellant submits that the trial Judge did in fact abuse his discretion in allowing this hearsay statement into evidence, and in doing so created great prejudice to the accused.

The Appellant would further submit that the Judge abused his discretion in admitting evidence, over counsel's timely objection, of the weight of the cocaine at issue. RE p. 145, 11. 18-29) The Appellant was charged and tried for Possession of Cocaine. The weight of the cocaine is irrelevant for purposes of the jury, and for purposes of the matter at issue. The weight, especially under the given facts and circumstances, may only bring further prejudice against the Appellant, given the hearsay allegations that he was selling crack cocaine.

Although relevant evidence to the Judge, for sentencing purposes, it is not relevant to the jury in their determination of guilt. The Judge, therefore, abused his discretion when admitting such evidence, which abuse caused great prejudice to the Appellant.

CONCLUSION

It is clear that the statement made by the unidentified white male, alleging that the Appellant was a drug dealer, is hearsay, is irrelevant, and does not legitimately fall under any exception to the rules of hearsay. Under the facts and circumstances supporting the Appellants arrest and conviction such hearsay was inadmissible in that the jury could be left with only one possible inference; That the Appellant had just dealt drugs, and thus possessed drugs.

The State submitted that the statement was offered to show only the reason for the stop, and further indicated that it would instruct it's witnesses not to make mention of drug dealing. Timely objections were made and overruled. The witness testified to the hearsay statement, including the allegation of drug dealing. This was done despite the fact that the Officer testified the reason for the stop and investigation of the Appellant was based solely on observed traffic violations. Clearly such statements were not necessary, or relevant under the circumstances.

Similarly, the admission into evidence of the weight of the cocaine, under the given facts and circumstances was not relevant evidence as to the guilt or innocence of the accused, and thus should not have been included in the jury instructions. The trial Judge, by admitting such evidence, clearly abused his discretion and in doing so created great prejudice to the Appellant.

For these reasons and in consideration of the foregoing argument, the conviction of the Appellant, Rotundo Jenkins, should be reversed and the case be remanded to Circuit Court for proceedings consistent with this appeal.