,
		-



IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

ROTUNDO JENKINS

STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

APPELLANT

VS.

FILED

NO. 2007-KA-0814

FEB 2 6 2008

OFFICE OF THE CLERK SUPREME COURT COURT OF APPEALS

APPELLEE

BRIEF FOR THE APPELLEE

APPELLEE DOES NOT REQUEST ORAL ARGUMENT

JIM HOOD, ATTORNEY GENERAL

BY: STEPHANIE B. WOOD

SPECIAL ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL

OFFICE OF THE ATTORNEY GENERAL POST OFFICE BOX 220 JACKSON, MS 39205-0220 TELEPHONE: (601) 359-3680

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES

- I. THE TRIAL COURT ACTED WITHIN ITS DISCRETION IN ALLOWING OFFICER BOYD TO TESTIFY REGARDING THE ANONYMOUS TIP HE RECEIVED AS IT WAS NOT HEARSAY.
- II. THE DEFENDANT IS PROCEDURALLY BARRED FROM RAISING HIS SECOND ISSUE ON APPEAL AS HE CITED NO RELEVANT AUTHORITY TO SUPPORT HIS ARGUMENT.

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

On August 18, 2006, Officer Kevin Boyd and Officer O. L. Sanders of the Meridian Police Department were on patrol in separate vehicles and were dispatched to the area around 55th Avenue and 5th Street to look for a white female supposedly soliciting herself for drugs. (Transcript p. 49). The officers did not see the female; however, Officer Boyd was flagged down by a black SUV. (Transcript p. 50). A white male in the back seat of the SUV informed Officer Boyd that he witnessed a black male on a mini back near 1st Street handing a white female crack cocaine. (Transcript p. 51). Immediately, both Officer Boyd and Officer Sanders began driving toward 1st Street. (Transcript p. 52). As they were approaching the area in question, Officer Boyd heard the



sound of a mini bike engine. (Transcript p. 52). He turned to his left and saw a black male on a silver mini bike. (Transcript p. 52).

As Officer Boyd explained at trial, he began pursuing the mini bike for numerous reasons: (1) the driver had a full face helmet but the helmet was sitting on top of his head; (2) there was no tag on the mini bike; and (3) the bike was not street legal as it had no turn signals. (Transcript p. 52). The black male on the mini bike, later identified as the Defendant, Rotunda Jenkins, looked directly at the officer and sped away. (Transcript p. 53). However, before he sped away, Officer Boyd noticed a clear bag with a white substance hanging from Jenkins mouth. (Transcript p. 53). Jenkins led Officers Boyd and Sanders on a chase that lasted several blocks before indicating that he was about to turn into a driveway to stop. (Transcript p. 53 - 55). However, instead of stopping in the driveway, Jenkins sped through the yard near a parked car. (Transcript p. 55 - 56). Officers Boyd and Sanders exited their cars and chased Jenkins on foot. (Transcript p. 56 and 82). Officer Sanders saw Jenkins "wobble his bike and actually lean down beside the front end of the vehicle [parked in the yard]. It appeared to me that the subject tossed something. What it was, I don't know, and he proceeded to get the bike back in gear and try to get away again." (Transcript p. 82). Jenkins was eventually apprehended, but resisted arrest. (Transcript p. 57). A bag containing cocaine was found near the vehicle in the yard near the front tire. (Transcript p. 59). Tests revealed that bag contained "cocaine base in the amount of 4.27 grams." (Transcript p. 110).

Jenkins was arrested and tried for possession of cocaine. He was convicted and sentenced to serve five years in the custody of the Mississippi Department of Corrections with two years suspended and four years of reporting probation.



SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The trial court properly allowed Officer Boyd's testimony regarding the anonymous tip he received as the testimony was not hearsay, in that it was not offered to prove the truth of the matter asserted but was instead offered to show why he was where he was and why he noticed Jenkins on the mini bike. Also, Jenkins is procedurally barred from raising his second issue on appeal as he cited to no relevant authority to support his argument. Further, Jenkins failed to show any resulting prejudice.

ARGUMENT

I. THE TRIAL COURT ACTED WITHIN ITS DISCRETION IN ALLOWING OFFICER BOYD TO TESTIFY REGARDING THE ANONYMOUS TIP HE RECEIVED AS IT WAS NOT HEARSAY.

Jenkins first argues that the trial court erred in allowing Officer Boyd to testify regarding his being flagged down by a white male in an SUV who told the officer that a black male on a mini bike gave a white female cocaine nearby. (Appellant's Brief p. 10). "The admissibility of evidence is within the discretion of the trial court, and absent abuse of that discretion, the trial court's decision on the admissibility of evidence will not be disturbed on appeal." *Porter v. State*, 869 So.2d 414, 417(Miss. Ct. App. 2004) (citing *McCoy v. State*, 820 So.2d 25, 30 (Miss. Ct. App.2002)). "When the trial court stays within the parameters of the Rules of Evidence, the decision to exclude or admit evidence will be afforded a high degree of deference." *Id*.

Jenkins argues that the officer's testimony was hearsay. However, hearsay is defined as "a statement, other than one made by the declarant while testifying at the trial or hearing, offered in evidence to prove the truth of the matter asserted." Mississippi Rule of Evidence 801(c). Officer Boyd's testimony was given ONLY to show why he proceeded to the area where he found Jenkins and why he noticed Jenkins at all. "To the extent necessary to show why an officer acted as he did,

an informant's tip is admissible." *Hill v. State*, 865 So.2d 371, 380 (Miss. Ct. App. 2003) (citing *Swindle v. State*, 502 So.2d 652, 657-58 (Miss. 1987)). *See also Stubbs v. State*, 878 So.2d 130, 135 (Miss. Ct. App. 2004) and *Arnold v. State*, 809 So.2d 753, 758 (Miss. Ct. App. 2002).

Moreover, this Court has previously held that "if the significance of a statement is simply that it was made and there is no issue about the truth of the matter asserted, then the statement is not hearsay." *Arnold*, 809 So.2d at 758 (quoting *Mickel v. State*, 602 So.2d 1160, 1162 (Miss. 1992)). Officer's Boyd's testimony was not given to prove that a black male on a mini bike gave a white female cocaine or even to elude that Jenkins was the black male that the anonymous informant saw giving the white female cocaine. It was simply given to illustrate to the jury why Officers Boyd and Sanders drove toward 1st Street and why Officer Boyd noticed Jenkins on a mini bike. As noted in *Hill v. State*, "the evidence used to accuse [the defendant] was not the various statements of anonymous tipsters but the evidence acquired by [the officer] which resulted in [the defendant's] arrest. [The officer], for all practical purposes of this issue, was the accuser and [he] was confronted and cross-examined by [the defendant] at trial." 865 So.2d at 380. Likewise, in the case at hand, for all practical purposes, Officers Boyd and Sanders were the accusers and both were cross-examined by Jenkins at trial. Thus, the trial court properly allowed the testimony and Jenkins first issue is without merit.

II. THE DEFENDANT IS PROCEDURALLY BARRED FROM RAISING HIS SECOND ISSUE ON APPEAL AS HE CITED NO RELEVANT AUTHORITY TO SUPPORT HIS ARGUMENT.

Jenkins also argues that the trial court "abused his discretion in admitting evidence . . . of the weight of the cocaine at issue." (Appellant's Brief p. 13). This issue is procedurally barred as Jenkins failed to cite any relevant authority to support his arguments. *See Williams v. State*, 708 So.2d 1358, 1362-63 (Miss.1998) (failure to cite relevant authority obviates the appellate court's

		·
		-

obligation to review such issues).

Notwithstanding the bar, Jenkins is not entitled to relief as no prejudice resulted from the alleged error. Jenkins objected to the inclusion in the jury instructions of the weight of the cocaine. (Appellant's Brief p. 13 and Transcript p. 145). However, even if it were error to include the weight in the jury instructions which the State denies, it caused no prejudice to Jenkins as the weight of the cocaine was already before the jury. (Transcript p. 98 - 100 and 110). "To warrant reversal on an issue, a party must show both error and a resulting injury." *Vardaman v. State*, 966 So.2d 885, 891 (Miss. Ct. App. 2007). "An error is only grounds for reversal if it affects the final result of the case." *Id.* Accordingly, Jenkins second issue is without merit.

CONCLUSION

The State of Mississippi respectfully requests that this Honorable Court affirm the conviction and sentence of Rotunda Jenkins as the trial court acted within its discretion in allowing the testimony of Officer Boyd and as Jenkins is procedurally barred from raising his second issue.